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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 
 
Relating to duties of the fire marshal to provide education regarding fire safety code 
requirements 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachment 1-6 

 
Vice Chairman Rohr: Opened the Hearing on HB 1288. 
 
Representative Schneider:  In support of HB 1288.  (See Attachments 1-5). (00:29-3:40). 
 
Vice Chairman Rohr:   Any questions? 
 
Representative Porter:  So we are going to require a discussion between the two parties, 
that you say will solve the problem but there still isn’t anything that says they have to have a 
carbon monoxide detector?  
 
Representative Schneider:  There is an International fire code standard, so we are not 
mandating anything we are just educating and enforcing what is already in the standard.  It 
has not been incorporated into the documents that people use.  It does not change that 
requirement.  
 
Representative Porter:  The state has fully adopted the international fire code and it is 
technically the law of the land?    (4:30) 
 
Representative Schneider: That is one of the standards that has been adopted in the state 
and it has some exceptions for home rule charters.  In this case it would have applied. 
 
Vice Chairman Rohr:  Any other support of HB 1288? 
  
Joan Connell, Pediatrician, and Past President of the North Dakota Chapter of 
American Academy of Pediatrics:  I am also a working Mom whose children has spent 
many hours in daycare. In support of HB 1288. (See Attachment 6) (5:10-8:19). 
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Vice Chairman Rohr:  Any other support of HB 1288? Any Opposition? Any neutral?  
  
Representative Porter:  Is the Fire marshal here? I have a question for him.   

 
Doug Nelson: Fire marshal of the State of North Dakota:  I would be happy to answer any 
questions.  In neutral position to HB 1288.  
 
Representative Porter: In the International fire code it says that carbon monoxide detectors 
are mandated into child care facilities.  Is that currently adopted and enforced in North 
Dakota? 
  
Doug Nelson: Yes, the International Fire Code 2015 was adopted by the State fire marshal 
in 2016 under administrative rule and that is the model code that we follow for state fire code 
enforcement.  It is currently retroactively required for daycares in that fire code.  
 
Representative Porter: When we adopt The International Fire Code as a state, is there  the 
ability for political subdivisions to not adopt portions of that or are they required to adopt 
100%? 
 
Doug Nelson: Yes, different political subdivisions and home rule charters do develop their 
own code that they follow their own codes.  As far as the legality of which code they would 
have to follow, I can’t testify to, I am not a lawyer.  We do have a state code that we follow 
for all those communities that don’t have any other code or enforcement to follow or their 
own adopted code.  For example, home rule charter or fire protection districts.  They may 
have their own adopted code that they follow.  
 
Representative Porter: Do you have any information for us that tells us which communities 
have not adopted this particular component of the fire code? 
 
Doug Nelson:  I don’t have that right now but I can do some research on what communities 
have not adopted that. I can testify about Fargo because I have worked there, they had 
deleted this portion of the code as a retroactive requirement, but they required it in the new 
daycares and they are in the middle of another code adoption that they will be adopting the 
retroactive requirement.  
 
Representative Schneider: As part of your education campaign could you also consider as 
a fire marshal, educating the people on the importance of having carbon monoxide detectors 
if you find someone has opted out of this portion of the International Fire code.  
 
Doug Nelson: Yes, that is what our office would recommend to the communities, to adopt 
the requirement and educating on the risks.  We recognize carbon monoxide is a risk even if 
there are political subdivisions that don’t adopt the sections that require it.   
 
Vice Chairman Rohr:  Any opposition to HB 1288?  Seeing none.  
Hearing closed. 
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Relating to duties of the fire marshal to provide education regarding fire safety code requirements. 

 
 

Minutes:                                                  

 
Chairman Weisz: Calls the meeting to order for HB 1288. 
 
Representative Schneider: This bill resulted from a couple of incidents in Fargo where a 
daycare individuals hospitalized and children exposed to carbon monoxide and the 
pediatrician that treated some of those children call the fire department and said why didn’t 
they have a working carbon monoxide detector? Then the pediatrician called me and the fire 
marshal and we worked on the wording for this. The fire marshal did find that in the 
international fire code a provision that you should have carbon monoxide detectors in 
situations where there might be carbon monoxide within the daycare. We turned it into an 
educational piece since none of the forms at the state in human services or the inspection 
forms for the fire marshal included any mention of carbon monoxide detectors. Without 
increasing the budget, the fire marshal will incorporate into changing the forms that are used 
for inspection and education for human services who will pass it on the daycare providers.   
 
Chairman Weisz: Under current licensing for a child care facility; they are not required to 
have carbon monoxide?  
 
Representative Schneider: Nobody knew it was in the international fire code so none of the 
forms include anything about it. So there are three forms that need to be changed.  
 
Representative Porter: The issue is that the state adopts the international fire code and the 
local political sub divisions adopt the components of that that they want into their local 
ordinance and local fire code. So yes it’s in there but not every community adopts 100% of 
that fire code. Sprinkler systems being an example; there are various requirements for 
sprinkler systems in buildings. So even if the state adopts it they still have the option to adopt 
the pieces they want, they also have the option to go retroactive or forward with who is 
required to have them.  
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Chairman Weisz: If we passed this is that just added as a requirement for licensing 
regardless of local codes?  
 
Representative Porter:  The fire marshal is just giving the information to the licensed 
facilities but he can’t speak for the jurisdiction that they may be in. We could potentially be 
giving them false information. I think it is fixing itself without this language in the century code. 
 
Representative Schneider: The problem is the Fargo have coverage of this and nobody 
knew it and it’s very important that somebody get the word out in consistent fashion and 
change the inspection forms.  
 
Representative Porter: I do not feel this is necessary and I make a motion for Do Not Pass. 
 
Representative Tveit: I’ll second that motion. 
 
A Roll Call vote was taken. Yea:    6          Nay:   6          Absent:   2 
 
Motion Fails 
 
Representative Schneider: I would like to make a motion to pass this bill.  
 
Representative Devlin: Second  
 
Chairman Weisz: Further discussion? The clerk will take a vote.  
 
A Roll Call vote was taken. Yea:       10       Nay:      2       Absent: 2 
 
Motion Passes, Representative Schneider will carry the bill.  
 
Chairman Weisz closes the meeting.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relates to duties to the fire marshal to provide education regarding fire safety code 
requirements. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Written attachment #1: Rep. Mary Schneider 

 
Chairman Burckhard opened the hearing on HB1288. Senators Burckhard, Anderson, 
Dotzenrod, Larson, Kannianen were present. Senator J. Lee was absent. 
 
Representative Mary Schneider: (:31-3:57) District 21, heart of central Fargo. Written 
attachment #1. She introduced the bill and spoke in favor of the bill. 
 
Senator Anderson: Apparently the state of North Dakota has adopted the International Fire 
code or has Fargo? 
 
Representative Mary Schneider: That’s a wonderful question. What happened in this case 
there are multiple fire codes? There are two main ones. Fargo had adopted the International 
Fire Code but they had opted out as a Home Rule city of the carbon monoxide provisions 
which they are allowed to do. They had then put them back them back in, but apparently the 
firefighters did not know that. So this is a good example really of the difficulties in making a 
very simple thing known. We have two agencies, and we have multiple fire codes and we 
have multiple jurisdictions and multiple kinds of daycares. My first tendency in this bill was to 
just say all day care should have carbon monoxide detectors whether it was relevant with 
their heating sources. But in working with the Fire Marshal it became clear that there were a 
lot of different stakeholders here and he was willing to work with the agencies, the 
jurisdictions, the firefighters and the licensing issues to address those.  
 
Senator Anderson: Why do we need to bills to tell people to do what they are supposed to 
do in the first place? 
 
Representative Mary Schneider: Because of the differences within the jurisdictions. The 
different fire codes, the different entities involved and the inconsistencies in what they are 
supposed to do. I don’t think the daycare providers necessarily understand, and it certainly 
isn’t being inspected for. They are not being told in any written way that they would 
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understand. So this seems to be an issue that, a small one, but because it is a deadly one 
we brought the bill. 
 
Senator Diane Larson: This isn’t really requiring anything other than the fire marshal to do 
education and talk about some of those requirements. It isn’t requiring anything, is that 
correct? 
 
Representative Mary Schneider: It is requiring the education which I think will address the 
problem. I tried not to be a little heavy handed with working with the State Fire Marshal and 
understanding that he had the capacity and the systems and would certainly see that the job 
got done. What I am concerned with is maybe the next fire marshal might not be that focused 
on this particular issue. I would like that obligation in there and hopefully we won’t have to 
have a law that says that daycares have to carbon monoxide detectors if we can take of it 
with this provision.  
 
Senator Kannianen: Just looking for clarification on the phrase licensed early childhood 
program. Now does that include anything more than day cares, do you know of, just the 
definition I am wondering to clarify?  
 
Representative Mary Schneider: I am not aware of anything else, that’s in that definition. I 
apologize we had the head of the North Dakota Pediatric Association testify in the House, 
and she was going to try to be here today. She may ask to submit written information later, 
but apparently she wasn’t able to make it and we don’t have her written information. 
 
Chairman Burckhard asked for opposition to HB 1288, then neutral testimony. We are going 
to reopen the hearing again.  
 
Amanda Carlson: (9:21-10:35) Early Childhood Services Administrator within the 
Department of Human Services. I just wanted to respond if I can to your question regarding 
early childhood services programs that actually is in childcare. You can find it in Century 
Code 50-11.1-02 and I will give you a condensed version if I can. It is number 7 under 
definitions. Early childhood service means, the care, supervision, education or guidance of a 
child or children which is provided in exchange for money that there are other services. There 
are some exclusions to that, but this could include preschool settings so it is much bigger 
than just child care. I just wanted to provide that clarification for the committee. 
 
Doug Nelson, State Fire Marshal of North Dakota. (11:05) Obviously we are on a neutral 
position on this.  
 
Chairman Burckhard: So you’ve been State Fire Marshal since November 2018.  
 
Mr. Doug Nelson: No it was March of 2018.  
 
Senator Anderson: Perhaps we could ask him to explain the fire codes that we have in place 
and the variances you see and whether this monoxide detector was required in these 
situations or not?  
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Mr. Doug Nelson: Yes, I will be able to explain that to you. So we have a state fire code that 
is adopted and covers those areas that don’t have any local code adopted. Where we most 
often see a local code adoption is through a home rule charter or city such as Representative 
Schneider stated with Fargo, Grand Forks, Bismarck, the bigger cities where we see that 
Home Rule Charter. So they are able to adopt their own code on their own. Where most 
communities do follow the state code and where we do have since 2015, we’ve adopted the 
International Fire Code which does have an inclusion for retro-actively requiring carbon 
monoxide alarms in day cares. Now, our office since that is relatively new, when I asked 
around our office, not necessarily all of our inspectors were aware of that, that it came in with 
the code at that time. So we have updated that now and we are enforcing that as we go. But 
a lot of small town fire departments that follow under the State Code may not know that and 
it’s currently not covered on our form. So I think that is where the confusion comes and then 
to explain the Home Rule Charter, in this specific instance Fargo had a deleted out of their 
adoption their requirement the retro-active requirement. So subsequently now since then, 
they are in the current process of adopting the 2018 International Fire Code, in which they 
are going to not delete that section so they will be requiring it. Now currently, once Fargo 
updates their code adoption, then all the other communities that I know of that are on the 
same code that we are, or very similar, with minor differences with amendments they all will 
have a retro-active requirement for carbon monoxide alarms in day cares. But it hasn’t been 
updated on our form and it hasn’t been necessarily addressed by us like this specific 
instance. 
 
Senator Anderson: So does your office provide the forms that the local small community 
fire department would use when they were expecting this facilities? 
 
Mr. Doug Nelson: Yes, we provide the forms for most of the smaller communities. We accept 
forms if they have their own again, like in a Fargo, or the bigger cities that have their own 
programs and own fire prevention inspectors. But we do provide state forms to all the local 
communities for those local fire chiefs who feel that they can do those inspections. 
 
Senator Anderson: So, basically then you would add this to your forms so that those local 
guys would know they are supposed to check for it?  
 
Mr. Doug Nelson: Yes, this would make us update our forms and then we would also would 
speak with Department of Human Services (DHS), and we would look to develop for a course 
with them to help address this and get more fire prevention information out to the day cares, 
fire chiefs and licensers of day cares so that everybody is hopefully on the same page in the 
future.  
 
Senator Kannianen: I was going to ask whether you have to develop new materials or if you 
have existing materials that would work. You, kind of answered that with developing a new 
course. But is that very extensive or what are you planning there? What do you think that will 
entail? 
 
Mr. Doug Nelson: It wouldn’t make too much of an impact on our office. We already have a 
requirement to do public education in Chapter 18, and this would really just add this specific 
safety area for us to address. We don’t necessarily have a course right now that we are 
providing, but to do that would not cause an un-do stress on our office as a whole to provide 
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that and to update our forms. It is something that we needed to do anyway. I’ve been here 
since March of 2018 and this is something that I haven’t just had the time to address at this 
point yet.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: I see on your bill here, smoke detector and carbon monoxide alarm. A 
lot of the buildings are heated with either propane or natural gas. Every now then there is an 
explosion because of a leak in a basement water heater or some other device in the home. 
We had one in Richland County where it blew up the house last summer and killed a women, 
who was in the house. I understand there is detectors that you can get that will detect if there 
is a leak. In propane’s case, if there is a leak in propane is heavier than air, so if you have a 
water heater in the basement and there’s a propane leak that the propane won’t go up it will 
spread out and stay down there. Then if there is any ignition source you can really do a lot 
of damage. So, do you in your work as a Fire Marshal have any requirements or any part of 
the fire code where you have to have those detectors installed in places like a daycare center 
where if they are heating with that type of fuel that they need to have some detector to detect 
the leak?  
 
Mr. Doug Nelson: Currently there are no requirements in the International Fire Code which 
we adopted the state and similarly what many of the local communities adopt requiring what 
they typically refer to a 4 gas monitor or an explosive gas monitor in those facilities. Most 
propane and natural gas has an odorant mixed into it and that’s where if there is a leak, that 
should be the primary detection is the smell of it. So that would be my guess why that hasn’t 
been addressed in the International Codes to this point for those types of occupancies. There 
are requirements for gas detectors depending on the occupancy but not necessarily in day 
cares. In higher hazard occupancies where they are introducing these different gases in to 
there for processes, or manufacturing or stuff like that they do require gas detectors but not 
with day care.   
 
Senator Dotzenrod: I’ve noticed that some of the CO2 the carbon monoxide detectors say 
on the package that they also will detect propane or natural gas. I thought maybe if you had 
a carbon monoxide alarm that would cover that, but maybe not. I don’t know. 
 
Mr. Doug Nelson: The codes require a carbon monoxide alarms and it doesn’t require 
another kind of explosive gas so I wouldn’t have any. I would always advocate for safety, and 
say I recommend it and it’s a good idea, especially if you have those gases being introduced 
into your home because you never know when they could build up or if some reason an 
odorant isn’t introduced into particular batch of propane that they get. So I would recommend 
it but as far as being able to require it or being able to speak to it, if it should be required I 
guess I wouldn’t be able to testify to that. 
 
Chairman Burckhard closed the hearing on HB1288. 
 
Senator Diane Larson moved a do pass on HB1288. 
Senator Jim Dotzenrod- 2nd 
Roll call vote: 5 Yea, 0 No, 1 Absent 
Carrier: Senator Diane Larson 
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